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          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Councilman Charles Barron, and I'm Chair

          4  of the Higher Education Committee, and I'm here with

          5  my comrade in struggle and my Co-Chair here, Mr.

          6  Hiram Monserrate, the Council Member from Queens and

          7  Chair of the Veterans Committee, and we're going to

          8  be dealing with a very, very important issue today,

          9  and that is how veterans are treated in CUNY and in

         10  other parts of the City and other programs.

         11                 We want to welcome with us today,

         12  Tony Avella, from Queens, a member of our Committee,

         13  and we also have Mike Nelson and we have Miguel

         14  Martinez. I didn't see him there. We have Miguel

         15  Martinez. If there is anybody behind me, it doesn't

         16  count. Is anybody behind me? Oh, Council Member Lew

         17  Fidler, from my district, in the big chair, even

         18  though we have seats available here. Tells you what

         19  the ambition is of people around here, but, anyway,

         20  we are honored to have this hearing.

         21                 I want to do something special before

         22  we start the hearing, because we do have two

         23  individuals on the Higher Education Committee who

         24  will be moving to experienced other things in life,

         25  and they've done such a wonderful job on my
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          2  Committee, and that's Ms. Owusu, and Ms. Baaba Halm,

          3  and I want them to please stand, because they will

          4  be leaving our Committee to do other kinds of work.

          5  But they did such an excellent, excellent job with

          6  our Committee, give them a big hand-clap. And we do

          7  want to send them off right. I do take it personal

          8  that they are leaving me. It's personal to me. You

          9  know, we're going to beat them up, but they do

         10  deserve at least flowers. This is my Chief of Staff,

         11  Ms. Viola Plummer. My Chief of Staff. So, we thank

         12  you so much for your work. I know you'll do great.

         13  Not sexist at all. This is a watch.

         14                 MS. HALM: Thank you very much.

         15                 MS. OWUSU: Thank you. Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's very male

         18  chauvinistic, that's what they give out to men.

         19  Thank you for your service.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Hey, Mr.

         21  Chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We didn't ask for

         23  any comments from the Council members. I am in

         24  charge of this hearing. I haven't called on anyone

         25  else to speak yet. When they say "hey, Mr. Chair"

                                                            6

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2  something is coming, so I'm trying to cut it off.

          3                 Yes, my Council member.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I was hoping

          5  we could get some flowers for staying with you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I was hoping to

          7  receive flowers for your being on my Committee.

          8                 But thank both of them so much. If I

          9  ever appear intelligent at these hearings, it's

         10  because of their research and their writing that has

         11  really kept us up on the issues and had us doing

         12  some wonderful, wonderful things in CUNY.

         13                 But we're here from the Veterans

         14  today, and my understanding from some of the

         15  research, there is about 300,000 veterans in New

         16  York City, and about 8,000 of these veterans are

         17  severely impacted by the Afghani and Iraq War, and

         18  when they come back, you know, the question is how

         19  veterans are treated. There are 1,600 some odd

         20  veterans in CUNY. About 1,200 and change of them are

         21  in senior colleges, and about 400 are in the

         22  two-year colleges. And we want to look at some of

         23  the programs, whether it's the Montgomery GI bill,

         24  which promises to give up to $10,000 for 36 months

         25  for college and things of that nature. We want to
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          2  make sure and want to see what CUNY is doing for the

          3  veterans, and we'll have some testimony from CUNY,

          4  just for the official record, I'm going to read my

          5  statement into the record, and then we'll take it

          6  from there.

          7                 And I'm just honored to be joined by

          8  my friend, more than the Council member, but my

          9  friend, Council Member Monserrate.

         10                 Good afternoon, and thank you for

         11  attending today's meeting. My name is Charles

         12  Barron, and I am Chair of the Higher Education

         13  Committee. I introduced my colleagues already. We

         14  are pleased to be joining the Committee on Veterans

         15  in today's hearing, related to services for veterans

         16  at CUNY.

         17                 Our nation recently celebrated

         18  Veterans Day on November 12th. This day recognizes

         19  the contributions and sacrifices many men and women

         20  made abroad.

         21                 According to the New York State

         22  Division of Veterans Affairs, as of 2005 there are

         23  about 300,000 veterans living in New York City. More

         24  than 1,300 additional soldiers are expected to

         25  return to the City from the conflicts in Iraq and

                                                            8

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2  Afghanistan and the other overseas assignments.

          3                 As these veterans reintegrate

          4  themselves back into our communities, some of them

          5  will seek educational or career training in order to

          6  enhance their career opportunities.

          7                 As we're all aware, access to higher

          8  education is crucial to upward mobility in the

          9  United States. Generally the higher the level of

         10  education attainment, the more a person will earn

         11  over the lifetime.

         12                 In addition to other benefits,

         13  veterans who serve at least two years with the Armed

         14  Services pay into the Montgomery GI Bill, and are

         15  honorably discharged, are eligible to receive

         16  educational benefits through the State Department of

         17  Veterans Affairs. These benefits can be used to pay

         18  the cost of attending a college or participate in

         19  vocational or technical training courses.

         20                 We have heard that many veterans may

         21  be unaware of how to access the many benefits that

         22  they're entitled to receive, and consequently may

         23  not be fully benefitting from all the resources

         24  available to assist the transition back into our

         25  communities.
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          2                 CUNY is one of the largest urban

          3  universities in the nation. In New York City the

          4  University's role is significant because it serves

          5  well over 450,000 students and has a college in each

          6  borough making CUNY uniquely positioned to accept

          7  and assist veterans who wish to enroll in any of its

          8  programs.

          9                 Today the Committees hope to learn

         10  how CUNY assists such veterans, as well as an update

         11  on the goals and progress for the New York City

         12  Council funded resource center housed at LaGuardia

         13  Community College.

         14                 And before we hear from our panel, we

         15  want to hear from our colleague Council Member Hiram

         16  Monserrate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         18  very much, Council Member Barron, and good afternoon

         19  to my colleagues and to all those willing to

         20  testify, obviously representing CUNY and LaGuardia.

         21  I chair the Veterans Committee of the New York City

         22  Council, and I'd like to make the following

         23  statement. Thank you all again for coming to today's

         24  hearing and during the inclement weather.

         25                 While so many of New York City's
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          2  residents are currently engaged in conflicts

          3  overseas in Iraq and Afghanistan and in other

          4  overseas assignments, it just brings more attention

          5  to the need for services here in the City of New

          6  York for our returning vets.

          7                 As has been stated before by Council

          8  Member Barron and others, there is approximately

          9  well over 300,000 veterans living in New York City

         10  today, and as Chair of the Veterans Committee, for

         11  now going on my third year, it has always been

         12  extremely important to me to ensure that the City

         13  did its part to help facilitate services for

         14  veterans. And as I look across the room, I want to

         15  thank many of the veterans and the advocates for

         16  veterans that are here today, that have participated

         17  not only in these official hearings of the City

         18  Council, but in formal meetings of the Coalition Of

         19  Veterans Organizations that we've collectively

         20  established to deal with these issues and to bring a

         21  brain trust of issues that are impacting our

         22  veterans and what we can do to ameliorate their

         23  condition here in the City of New York.

         24                 Let me also go on to say that we

         25  spoke about an initiative before that for the first
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          2  time in the City of New York, the Council, this

          3  Council, it was an initiative that I sponsored, and

          4  I want to thank many of my colleagues who are here

          5  today who also co-sponsored the initiative with me

          6  and ensured that through our very tedious budgetary

          7  process it survive the budget axe. And for the first

          8  time in the City of New York, in this fiscal year

          9  there is a $1 million initiative that will provide

         10  direct services for veterans here in the City of New

         11  York.

         12                 It's a historic thing. Obviously we

         13  look only towards ensuring that those services

         14  expand and that the budgetary dollars be put in

         15  place to ensure that a program like this will do

         16  well by the veterans of the City of New York.

         17                 I want to say a particular heartfelt

         18  thank you to the LaGuardia Community College and

         19  their president Ms. Gail Mellow, and Mr. Orango, who

         20  is one of their representatives who is here today,

         21  for their steadfast support, and we're working very

         22  closely with my staff and the City Council to ensure

         23  that this could happen here at one of our local

         24  schools, and what better place than one of our local

         25  community colleges in the, I'm sorry to say this,
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          2  Charles, in the best borough of the City of New

          3  York, the Borough of Queens leading the charge. But

          4  we also want to say that clearly, I know there's a

          5  lot of Queens residents watching this now, and we

          6  have to say that for the record, but also that these

          7  services will not just be in Queens but throughout

          8  the five boroughs.

          9                 As I was stating also, we are

         10  particularly interested in seeing how CUNY deals

         11  with the issue of veterans, not only returning

         12  veterans, but the veterans that are currently in the

         13  system.

         14                 Let me say obviously, that I am a big

         15  fan of CUNY, having graduated from both Queens

         16  Borough and Queens Colleges, public education

         17  product from kindergarten through high school. We'll

         18  talk about grad work on another day. But I'm very

         19  happy that we'll be hearing testimony today and I

         20  look forward to hearing the testimony and a

         21  invigorating discussion and now we're going to make

         22  services made available to our veterans.

         23                 Mr. Chair, why don't you go ahead and

         24  proceed in that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very
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          2  much. We thank you for those comments, and we

          3  forgive you for the mispoken analysis of the best

          4  borough. Brooklyn is the Peoples Republic of

          5  Brooklyn, and we have the highest population, most

          6  cultural institutions, and some of the finest and

          7  well-known intellectuals in the Borough.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: We still have

          9  a baseball team, though, Charles, for the record.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay. What place

         11  did you take? Anyway, stolen from Brooklyn. The

         12  thieves that stole the team from Brooklyn.

         13                 With that, we're going to begin our

         14  hearing and we'll call up the first panel.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Vice Chancellor

         16  Garrie Moore; Professor Roger Sherwood; Samuel E.

         17  Farrell, II; Justin Whaley.

         18                 Please raise your right hands.

         19                 Do you swear that the testimony that

         20  you're about to provide will be truthful and

         21  accurate?

         22                 WITNESSES COLLECTIVELY: I do.

         23                 (Witnesses Sworn.)

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         25  your names for the record before you begin.
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          2                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Garrie Moore.

          3                 Good afternoon, Chair Barron, Chair

          4  Monserrate, and members of the Committee. I am

          5  Garrie Moore, Vice Chancellor for Student Affairs at

          6  the City University of New York.

          7                 Testifying with me today are Roger

          8  Sherwood, Associate Professor of the School of

          9  Social Work, at CUNY's Hunter College; Samuel

         10  Farrell, Director of the Center for Veterans, Youth

         11  and Adults at CUNY's LaGuardia Community College;

         12  and Justin Whaley, a student and president of

         13  Students for Veterans at CUNY's Borough of Manhattan

         14  Community College.

         15                 I am grateful to have the opportunity

         16  to speak with you this afternoon about CUNY's

         17  services for veterans.

         18                 While the country's recent

         19  commemoration of Veterans Day has focused much

         20  needed attention on veterans, I am proud to know

         21  that serving veterans is a year-round priority at

         22  the University.

         23                 We understand that as an institution

         24  our profound gratitude for our veterans is enormous,

         25  and the contributions we make must be equal.
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          2                 As a Vietnam veteran myself, I take a

          3  very special interest in ensuring that veterans find

          4  at CUNY the specific resources they need to

          5  successfully meet their educational goals.

          6                 Currently, there are close to 3,000

          7  student veterans and reservists enrolled at CUNY.

          8  This place is a university and the top ten for

          9  veteran student enrollment among U.S. Higher

         10  Education Institutions.

         11                 The University's veteran population

         12  has grown by about ten percent every year since

         13  2004.

         14                 We anticipate further growth. The

         15  Department of Veteran Affairs reports that about

         16  6,000 veterans have recently returned to the Greater

         17  New York City area, and 10,000 soldiers are expected

         18  to return to the City from Iraq, and Afghanistan

         19  over the next year.

         20                 Our veteran students are a critical

         21  part of our diverse student body, and the University

         22  offers a range of academic and support services to

         23  ease their transition to college and civilian life.

         24                 But as these numbers indicate, our

         25  services must be expanded, and the Council's
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          2  assistance and partnership in this regard will be

          3  critical to our ongoing efforts.

          4                 In addition to CUNY's Central Office

          5  of Veterans Affairs, each CUNY college has appointed

          6  a Veteran Affairs Coordinator to serve student

          7  veterans and reservers.

          8                 The campus coordinators offer

          9  information and referrals in several key areas:

         10                 - academic advising and tutoring is

         11  available, particularly for those who may not be

         12  familiar with navigating a college environment.

         13                 Veterans may be older than other

         14  students and may not have a wide network of

         15  information about higher education.

         16                 - our counseling services offer

         17  assistance with housing, day care, and personal

         18  finance. Special services are provided for

         19  post-deployment issues, particularly those

         20  associated with post-traumatic stress disorder and

         21  for disabled students.

         22                 - advice on financial aid and

         23  benefits is also available, especially regarding

         24  deferred tuition and the necessary coordination with

         25  the Veterans Administration, as well as
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          2  scholarships, short-term loans and Social Security.

          3                 Finally, job placement counseling

          4  assists with full- and part-time employment and

          5  employment-related legal aid.

          6                 I must emphasize that we make every

          7  effort to tailor these services to veterans' needs

          8  and to train our student affairs professionals to

          9  work specifically with veteran-related issues.

         10                 For example, we are currently

         11  gathering data from our CUNY veterans experience

         12  survey, and have held focus groups with student

         13  veterans and reservists at several CUNY colleges.

         14                 Feedback from these groups and from

         15  the survey will be used to shape our services and

         16  policies.

         17                 Also, in April we held our first ever

         18  Veterans Liaison Retreat to offer intensive training

         19  about veteran services for our liaison staff.

         20                 We have sponsored membership to the

         21  National Association of Veterans Program

         22  Administrators for all of our liaisons so that they

         23  have access to national resources and information,

         24  and last month we participated in NAVPA's national

         25  conference.
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          2                 In addition, individual CUNY campuses

          3  have initiated expanded programming and services to

          4  meet veteran students' needs. For example, the

          5  School of Social Work at Hunter College has launched

          6  PROVE, the Project for Return and Opportunity in

          7  Veterans Education.

          8                 This program makes available social

          9  workers who are experienced in working with

         10  post-traumatic stress disorder to the University's

         11  colleges and schools.

         12                 Roger Sherwood will testify

         13  momentarily about Hunter's efforts to maximize

         14  support for veteran students, particularly those

         15  returning from Operation Iraqi Freedom and Operation

         16  Enduring Freedom.

         17                 Likewise, Sam Farrell will speak to

         18  you about LaGuardia's efforts, including a $1.25

         19  million grant the college recently received from the

         20  U.S. Department of Education's Upward Bound Veterans

         21  Program to offer free GED and college preparatory

         22  courses to veterans.

         23                 We are particularly grateful to the

         24  Council for its recent funding to enable LaGuardia

         25  to coordinate a network of community-based
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          2  initiatives to better serve veterans.

          3                 Additionally, New York City College

          4  of Technology, which has implemented an online

          5  Veterans E-Office and Queensborough Community

          6  College, which operates a Veterans Project have

          7  developed innovative ways to recognize the growing

          8  community of veterans while incorporating them into

          9  the larger college community.

         10                 Our outreach efforts are also an

         11  important part of our commitment to encourage

         12  veterans' participation in higher education.

         13                 For example, CUNY's Student Affairs

         14  Division recently co-sponsored a "Calling All

         15  Guards" event with the Brooklyn Cyclones, held an

         16  information fair at Fort Totten and participated in

         17  the "Salute to Heroes" Job and Information Fair, at

         18  the Javits Center. Last month, in collaboration with

         19  CUNY's Office of Admission Services, we hosted a

         20  Veterans Fair at Baruch College.

         21                 We were also very pleased to sponsor

         22  an entry in New York City's Veterans Day Parade

         23  about a week ago, at which 40 of our student

         24  veterans participated.

         25                 Right now, the University is
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          2  preparing for the CUNY Veterans Conference in

          3  February 2008 at City College. We are also

          4  collaborating with Roger Newman, the City's first

          5  Commissioner of the Mayor's Office of Veterans

          6  Affairs, to host a Citywide Veterans Services Day in

          7  the spring.

          8                 This event will advise City employees

          9  who are veterans of the information and services

         10  available to them from City, State and federal

         11  agencies.

         12                 I can assure you that the educational

         13  needs of our veterans will remain a top priority at

         14  CUNY. We deeply value their service and their

         15  experiences and welcome the countless ways they

         16  enrich our classrooms and our educational endeavor.

         17  Both our outreach efforts and our campus services

         18  are aimed at helping veterans readjust to civilian

         19  life and take full advantage of the lifelong

         20  benefits higher education offers, which our veterans

         21  so obviously deserve.

         22                 However, the expected influx of

         23  veterans returning to New York City over the coming

         24  year will test our resources and our responsiveness.

         25  In order to meet the needs of increasing numbers of
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          2  returning veterans, we must expand our advising and

          3  counseling services, as well as our outreach to the

          4  growing veteran community in the City.

          5                 Our hope is to establish a full-time

          6  service coordinator at each campus to assist with

          7  enrollment, benefit claims, counseling, retention,

          8  and other issues.

          9                 Additionally, we know that veteran

         10  student success depends on the implementation of a

         11  vibrant veterans' project on each campus, similar to

         12  those at LaGuardia Community College, New York City

         13  College of Technology, and Queensborough Community

         14  College. We know that veterans will avail themselves

         15  of outreach and support when they are framed

         16  appropriately.

         17                 Therefore, I respectfully request the

         18  Council's assistance in building a comprehensive

         19  veterans' services infrastructure at the University,

         20  one that will give these men and women the

         21  opportunity to achieve an excellent post-active-duty

         22  education.

         23                 In partnership with the Council, I

         24  know that we can continue to fully serve those who

         25  have so selflessly served us.
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          2                 Thank you, again, for all you have

          3  done for the University and for our veterans and

          4  thank our veterans for being here today.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: Hello.

          7  I'm Roger Sherwood. Good afternoon, Chair Barron and

          8  Chair Monserrate and members of the Committees. I am

          9  Roger Sherwood, Associate Professor at the Hunter

         10  College School of Social Work, and principal

         11  investigator of PROVE, Project for Return and

         12  Opportunity in Veterans Education.

         13                 The project is an initiative from the

         14  offices of Vice Chancellor Moore and Dean Robert

         15  Ptachik, University Dean for the Executive Office

         16  and Enrollment.

         17                 I am a Vietnam-era veteran, and have

         18  been very fortunate to have worked with the veteran

         19  community for 25 years.

         20                 For the past 21 years, I have been a

         21  clinical consultant to the Veterans Administration

         22  Hudson Valley Health Care System, Montrose Campus,

         23  where I counsel veterans with Post-Traumatic Stress

         24  Disorder. I was also one of the founding members of

         25  the "Hidden Client Conference: Veterans and Their
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          2  Loved Ones," now in its 25th year.

          3                 The main purpose of PROVE is to

          4  enhance existing services and develop new ones in

          5  support of our veteran/students at CUNY. The idea is

          6  simple: utilize the experience and skills of the

          7  graduate students in Hunter's highly regarded School

          8  of Social Work to support veterans' services across

          9  the CUNY campuses.

         10                 In less than three months we have

         11  been able to hire an experienced Project

         12  Director/Field Instructor, Dr. Myra Marcus, a

         13  clinical social worker and previously an Associate

         14  Professor at Florida Gulf Coast University. We

         15  recruited six graduate social work interns and

         16  placed the interns in three sites. Two of the

         17  interns are with Wilfred Cotto, Coordinator of the

         18  CUNY Office of Veterans Affairs, two are at John Jay

         19  College of Criminal Justice and two are at Hunter

         20  College.

         21                 This project has several phases of

         22  development. The first has been accomplished with

         23  the hiring of the Project Director/Field Instructor,

         24  and the recruiting of the six interns who are

         25  excellent.
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          2                 The second phase also has been

          3  accomplished with the introduction of PROVE at the

          4  three sites. The CUNY Office of Veterans Affairs was

          5  a smooth endeavor due to shared purpose, vision and

          6  excellent direction by Wilfred Cotto. We also

          7  received support at many levels at John Jay, such as

          8  Matthew McGee, a Vietnam veteran and social worker

          9  becoming our on-site supervisor.

         10                 At Hunter College, we have received

         11  support from the Veterans Affairs Coordinator, Dr.

         12  Crystal Schacter and the Personal Counseling Center.

         13  At this phase, we are assessing existing supports

         14  for veterans and facilitating the coordination of

         15  these supports to better serve veterans.

         16                 The third phase already initiated is

         17  outreach to veteran students in order to conduct an

         18  assessment of their needs and potential areas of

         19  supportive intervention.

         20                 The fourth phase is providing of the

         21  actual assistance in response to veterans' stated

         22  needs through consultation, counseling and the

         23  development of groups for veterans.

         24                 The fifth phase is the development of

         25  a system of veteran mentors who would provide
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          2  assistance to other veteran students. The final

          3  phase will be evaluation of the effectiveness of

          4  provided services as related to retention,

          5  graduation rates, as well as making CUNY more

          6  attractive to enrolling veterans.

          7                 Lessons learned from our first six

          8  weeks of being on these three sites:

          9                 First lesson. 1) Veteran students are

         10  often not aware of the range of benefits or services

         11  available to them as veterans, including educational

         12  benefits, health care counseling, et cetera.

         13                 2) Even if aware of services, some

         14  veterans are unable to access these services because

         15  of difficulties navigating the institutional system

         16  or internal sources of resistance, such as a

         17  tendency to isolate.

         18                 3) Veterans have multiple untapped

         19  strengths and powers which often go underutilized.

         20                 4) With the provision of information

         21  and some support, these veteran students are able to

         22  access additional benefits, become connected to

         23  other veterans, and in turn, help other veterans.

         24                 5) Some veterans are pursuing their

         25  educational aspirations while dealing with the
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          2  effects of being in war and having symptoms of

          3  Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.

          4                 6) Some veterans with PTSD are wary

          5  of accessing services through the Veterans

          6  Administration or Veterans Outreach Centers and thus

          7  go untreated.

          8                 In the first six weeks of having

          9  interns on-site, the PROVE team has had contact with

         10  over 125 veterans and evaluative discussions with

         11  25.

         12                 I have had the opportunity with

         13  in-depth discussions with 12 veterans, seven men and

         14  five women. Each has needs that are going unmet.

         15                 For example, at least four of them

         16  were not accessing additional financial aid for

         17  which they were entitled.

         18                 Two of them as OIF, OEF veterans were

         19  entitled to free medical care at Veterans Hospital

         20  that did not know of this benefit. All of them have

         21  had incredible intense experiences and stories that

         22  they have not been able to discuss with anyone in

         23  detail.

         24                 Some of them have PTSD or Traumatic

         25  Brain Injury. Their stories demonstrate why

                                                            27

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2  enhancing services to veteran students at CUNY is so

          3  important.

          4                 First, these veterans students

          5  deserve all of the benefits they are entitled to for

          6  their service to our country.

          7                 Secondly, a successful educational

          8  experience could promote healing from psychological

          9  trauma and facilitate reintegration into civilian

         10  society.

         11                 Thirdly, services offered at an

         12  educational site can be made more easily accessible

         13  and can avoid the stigma of seeking formal mental

         14  health services. Groups for women veterans, groups

         15  for peer support and groups for anger management are

         16  critically need.

         17                 The actual implementation of the

         18  services to veteran students requires consistent,

         19  assertive outreach to initially engage and to assist

         20  them in sharing their strengths and talents with

         21  others.

         22                 Veterans are often cautious of

         23  others, and skeptical of intention, and it is

         24  imperative that they experience our genuine

         25  consistent support and commitment to them.
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          2                 A key focus of PROVE is synergizing

          3  current services at each campus by, for example,

          4  integration of graduate social work interns, with

          5  the existing program.

          6                 We also believe that a critical

          7  element of continuing to enhance services is the

          8  development of veterans helping veterans through a

          9  mentoring system.

         10                 A very tangible goal of effective

         11  service will be the completion of a support team

         12  sheet, which identifies the resources available at

         13  each campus, including names and phone numbers.

         14                 The veterans student will have a

         15  PROVE member assigned to them to provide

         16  information, assist with access and ongoing support.

         17                 Just briefly, at the back of the

         18  packet is basically a chart or a map. It's the

         19  development of the team support for each veteran on

         20  campus. Unfortunately, the phenomenon is, as part of

         21  being in the military, people are part of a team and

         22  are included. When they transition to education, the

         23  educational system, they often go it alone.

         24                 So, our goal is to reconnect them

         25  with a support team similar to what they may have
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          2  experienced in the military.

          3                 I want to thank you for this

          4  opportunity to talk about this extremely important

          5  and exciting project.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

          7                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: You're

          8  welcome.

          9                 MR. FARRELL: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Samuel Emanuel Farrell, II, and I'm the Director

         11  of the Veterans Center at LaGuardia Community

         12  College.

         13                 I would like to thank Councilman

         14  Monserrate and Councilman Barron, as well as other

         15  members of this City Council, for allowing me to

         16  speak at this hearing.

         17                 I would also like to say that I did

         18  attend the Veterans Liaison Retreat, that

         19  Chancellor, Vice Chancellor Moore spoke about. And

         20  I'm also a member of the CUNY Veterans Steering

         21  Committee, so I continue to work with other veterans

         22  from other campuses.

         23                 I also participated in the Hidden

         24  Client Conference that Dr. Sherwood initiatives, and

         25  he's been doing that for 25 years.
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          2                 I'd also like to say that the program

          3  that he referred to is very important, because I see

          4  this not only as something for the soldiers as

          5  they're returning into CUNY, but also for those in

          6  service before they even get into the service. I've

          7  seen one veteran who had what's equivalent to PTSD,

          8  Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome, before he even goes

          9  into the service. So, I think that the program

         10  you're talking about is very important for us.

         11                 So, on behalf of LaGuardia Community

         12  College and City University of New York, I would

         13  like to thank you for choosing LaGuardia to

         14  administer this Veterans Resource Center Project.

         15                 You have acknowledged or demonstrated

         16  commitment to the Veterans Community, as well as

         17  impressive reputation in Queens for providing

         18  quality, accessible educational programming.

         19                 I would also like to thank the many

         20  Veterans Service Organizations, the VSOs, for

         21  showing confidence in LaGuardia and joining us in

         22  this great effort to implement such an important

         23  program.

         24                 I think I should thank LaGuardia

         25  itself. I think what's important here is that our

                                                            31

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2  last program at LaGuardia was in 1995, and LaGuardia

          3  was so committed to the veterans population that

          4  they allowed me to use space, and space that's so

          5  precious. Just about in every campus they allowed me

          6  to use the space for 12 years, and had I not gotten

          7  a program this last September there is a very good

          8  chance that my space might have disappeared. So, all

          9  of a sudden we moved from having no program for

         10  veterans in 12 years to having three programs. The

         11  Veterans Resource Center, the Veterans Upbound

         12  Program (phonetic) and also the Veterans

         13  Collaborative Initiative, which CUNY funds.

         14                 This is the third time that I'm

         15  testifying before the Committee on Veterans, and I

         16  initiated the idea of LaGuardia being a leading

         17  agency for the Consortium on 2005. Years go by

         18  quickly. 2005 and also in April 2007. My testimony

         19  included the fact that I thought it was critical,

         20  that the critical and thankless role so many of the

         21  front-line service veteran organizations have been

         22  involved in, they need to be funded.

         23                 I'm glad for this opportunity for the

         24  million dollars, to be able to provide funding for

         25  these veteran service organizations. Are there
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          2  organizations, Veteran Service Organizations here?

          3                 Are there any Veteran Service

          4  Organizations here? Okay, a few. I understand there

          5  were many conflicting schedules as well.

          6                 I'd like to talk a little bit more

          7  about our proposal for the veteran resource centers.

          8  LaGuardia considered education and jobs as

          9  priorities. We had some difficulties with the

         10  veteran service organizations with the idea of

         11  education and jobs being a priority because their

         12  feeling was that by the time the veterans reached

         13  their organization, they were already in crisis

         14  modes. They needed housing right away, otherwise

         15  they would be out in the streets.

         16                 They needed, of course, access to

         17  veterans benefits. They needed help with mental

         18  problems, physical problems, and some of the

         19  problems that they speak about Dr. Sherwood referred

         20  to.

         21                 In looking at facts of Iraqi and

         22  Afghanistan veterans, we see multiple problems

         23  dealing with mental health, alcohol, anger and

         24  aggression, divorces, unemployment, suicide,

         25  traumatic brain injuries. Considering this array of
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          2  problems, the Veterans Center, we understand that we

          3  need to have a massive media public campaign that

          4  must include CUNY campuses. And we need to reach the

          5  veterans as early as possible.

          6                 This is a challenge, and the

          7  challenge is that returning soldiers, especially

          8  those who served in combat, they need some time off.

          9  They need months to recuperate - emotionally,

         10  physically, mentally, and socially. While at the

         11  same time, they have to adjust as their roles as

         12  parents, as spouses, as sons and daughters, as

         13  family members, as friends with civilians, civilians

         14  who are so distant from the kind of experiences they

         15  had in Iraq or Afghanistan.

         16                 And talking about recuperation, some

         17  of them it may take 25 years or so. There is one

         18  faculty member I met at LaGuardia who was very

         19  involved in fighting in Vietnam and Cambodia. He got

         20  out in '74/'75. In 1999, 25 years after, he was at

         21  the Veterans Administration trying to get help with

         22  PTSD.

         23                 So, the idea that the veterans would

         24  be able to resolve the problem in a few months is

         25  ridiculous. They would need maximum help for many,
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          2  many years to be able to resolve the kinds of

          3  problems that they have.

          4                 As the lead agency for the Veterans

          5  Resource Center Project, LaGuardia would be

          6  responsible for monitoring the Center spending, will

          7  also be responsible for making sure that centers get

          8  easy access to the funding, as well as their

          9  independence in how to spend their money. There are

         10  some organizations that already have counselors, so

         11  they may need people to do something else. So, I

         12  think it's important that they have some

         13  independence, although LaGuardia will be looking

         14  very closely at how the money is being spent.

         15                 LaGuardia has budgeted $673,327 out

         16  of the $1 million, to four centers. In the Bronx

         17  they have the New Era Veterans, in Manhattan you

         18  have Incarcerated Veterans Consortium. In Brooklyn

         19  we have Black Veterans for Social Injustice. In

         20  Staten Island we have Staten Island Support Our

         21  Soldiers.

         22                 LaGuardia itself will function as a

         23  center. What we have created is independent contract

         24  agreements with the other Borough centers, so this

         25  way they will be able to deal with the scope of
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          2  services that's part of the agreement that we have

          3  with them.

          4                 LaGuardia will provide the centers

          5  with funding of 20 percent of their total funding as

          6  start-up costs, because we understand it is critical

          7  that they have the funding to get this moving.

          8                 Once the contracts are executed, and

          9  we expect this to happen any moment right now, the

         10  Center will submit budgets and activities so that

         11  this way they will receive eight payments until June

         12  30th until 2008.

         13                 LaGuardia plans have monthly meetings

         14  with the Center representatives, so this way we

         15  could communicate the progress of the delivery of

         16  services, we can share best practices, and we can

         17  resolve any issues early in implementation of the

         18  project.

         19                 LaGuardia will use the remaining

         20  $326,673 to function as the Queens Veterans Resource

         21  Center, and we have a satellite site, and that

         22  satellite site that will be working with us is the

         23  Vietnam Veterans of America, Chapter No. 32.

         24                 LaGuardia with its budget will

         25  provide fiscal monitoring of the project, data
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          2  collection and over-coordination of the project. It

          3  will also include some research, publicity campaign,

          4  we need to create the brochure and create curriculum

          5  for all of the five centers.

          6                 LaGuardia will utilize two other

          7  sources of funding to serve the veterans population,

          8  like Chancellor Moore referred to.

          9                 One of them is the recent federally

         10  funded Veterans Upbound Project, and will provide

         11  college prep and GED classes to veterans, and our

         12  current CUNY funding that I mentioned before, for a

         13  project to help in retention of student veterans at

         14  LaGuardia.

         15                 The number of deliverables that we

         16  are expecting from each of the veteran service

         17  organizations, a one-step system for veterans with

         18  information on the available services, benefits

         19  assessing the needs, and developing individual work

         20  plans so we can follow-up the work that we're doing

         21  with individual veterans.

         22                 Direct services and referrals for

         23  education, jobs, housing, mental and physical health

         24  and other needs.

         25                 The brochure that I referred to and
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          2  also quarterly reports, we'll be getting monthly

          3  reports from each of the centers, so this way we can

          4  compile quarter reports for the City Council.

          5                 Finally, we will have an advisory

          6  board. And the advisory board will be in place to

          7  help the project develop policies, operational

          8  guidelines, and reporting requirements. Also, in

          9  monitoring, evaluating and making adjustments in the

         10  Center services.

         11                 Twelve members of the Board will be

         12  selected from the Veterans Administration, Workforce

         13  Center, the Council's Committee on Veterans, a

         14  portion of Veterans Organizations and CUNY.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. WHALEY: Ladies and gentlemen of

         17  the Council, first off I would like to thank you all

         18  for letting me be here, and second off, I'd like to

         19  say that I'm honored to be able to speak on behalf

         20  of the veterans here in New York City.

         21                 These three gentlemen beside me

         22  already went into a lot of the details on how CUNY

         23  is and LaGuardia is working to help veterans, and on

         24  certain issues that veterans are having in the

         25  school system after leaving the military.
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          2                 So, what I would briefly like to do

          3  is just inform you, from a veterans perspective, how

          4  veterans are having problems with coming out of the

          5  military, and about what CUNY can do to help that.

          6                 First off, I'd like to say as a

          7  veteran coming from Operation Iraqi Freedom, that

          8  one of the premiere problems I've seen with veterans

          9  when they come out of the military is they have

         10  difficulty in accessing their benefits. Either (a)

         11  they do not know their benefits are there, (b), they

         12  have paperwork, and the issues behind getting their

         13  benefits are too difficult and too strenuous to deal

         14  with, alongside of their regular course work and

         15  their lives outside of there.

         16                 Second off, not only that veterans do

         17  have a problem when they come out, they feel

         18  isolated. First off, they're coming from a war, so

         19  their mental level is a lot different than normal

         20  college students. And then when they come out from

         21  that war, they're going to school, and they're going

         22  to classes with kids that are way younger than them,

         23  they have no life experiences anywhere relating to

         24  what they have to deal with, so they feel very

         25  isolated.

                                                            39

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2                 Not only that, veterans are having

          3  problems with PTSD, and they don't have the

          4  counseling services, or if they are there, they have

          5  problems with getting the counseling services.

          6                 So, what I really briefly want to say

          7  is the one way that I can see how New York City in

          8  this college community can help out veterans, is to

          9  have a system, or what's the word, a standardized

         10  system, a standardized office at each college to

         11  where veterans are directed, directly from the time

         12  they register into that system, and they are able to

         13  access their benefits, they're able to get taught

         14  about what their benefits are, and then a person

         15  will be able to help them get their benefits, take a

         16  lot of the loadwork off of their backs.

         17                 Because I personally have been there,

         18  and have helped who knows how many other veterans

         19  before them get those benefits so the system for

         20  them will be a lot easier to coordinate than it

         21  would be for a veteran who is just coming out.

         22                 Also, another main thing that I'd

         23  like to say that I feel that veterans really need is

         24  an outreach program. Veterans who are out there who

         25  really have the issues, who really need to get a
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          2  hold of their benefits, are the ones that are not in

          3  the system already. They're the ones that are there

          4  that nobody really knows about. They're the ones who

          5  don't want to admit they're a veteran, they're the

          6  ones with PTSD that don't want to come forward

          7  because they're ashamed of it.

          8                 They're also the ones that really

          9  just have no clue about what their benefits are. So,

         10  I really do believe that primarily one of the issues

         11  that needs to be dealt with is outreach for veterans

         12  in the City University system.

         13                 And I know it's very short and very

         14  sweet, but I don't feel like there's anything else I

         15  have to say than that, so thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, we want to

         17  thank you very much for your testimony. It was short

         18  and sweet, but to the point and very valuable

         19  testimony.

         20                 We want to thank Council Member Gale

         21  Brewer who has joined us from Manhattan. She is on

         22  the Higher Education Committee.

         23                 I have a few questions, then I'm

         24  going to turn it over to my Council Member

         25  Monserrate.
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          2                 One, with respect to the start of the

          3  college year for Vice Chancellor Moore, how are you

          4  assisting veterans in tuition payment, if they have

          5  to wait for their veterans benefits coming in? How

          6  does that work? If you can elaborate on that a

          7  little bit more, while they're waiting for that. And

          8  even saying some are not even aware of it existing,

          9  so two part: What are you doing to make students

         10  more aware of what they're entitled to? And then

         11  what are you doing with the Veterans Administration

         12  to see to it that if their benefits are not there,

         13  how do they deal with the tuition in a timely

         14  fashion?

         15                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Thank you,

         16  Chair Barron.

         17                 Two things we're doing primarily.

         18  One, we have created a full-time Office for Veterans

         19  Affairs within the Division of Student Affairs. We

         20  now have a full-time staff that is working with all

         21  the campuses, to ensure that all of our veterans are

         22  recognized and can receive services that are

         23  available within CUNY.

         24                 If a veteran shows up and identifies

         25  himself or herself as in need of financial services,
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          2  and he or she does not have the money readily

          3  available, we can make available to them short term

          4  loans. We can look for scholarship opportunities for

          5  them, grant opportunities. We can assist them with

          6  getting enrolled in college while they wait for that

          7  benefit.

          8                 Equally important is that we have

          9  connections now with the City, with the State and

         10  with the feds, in order to help the veterans move

         11  through that system to get their benefits, because

         12  we recognize, as the young man said, many of them

         13  don't recognize what their veteran benefits are.

         14                 I remember getting out of service,

         15  and when I got out they gave me a form called

         16  "DD214" and said "don't lose it." Period. Well, I

         17  didn't realize how important that form was to me,

         18  until one day I needed to use veterans' benefits,

         19  and until I decided that I wanted to build my first

         20  home. I recognized at that point how important that

         21  form is. And I had to immediately go to the court

         22  house, et cetera.

         23                 So, those are the things that we're

         24  working with veterans on. You know, sitting down

         25  one-on-one, talking with the veterans, letting them
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          2  know what we know about their benefits, and beyond

          3  that, talking with the federal government about the

          4  veterans' benefits, and ensuring that we know who

          5  the agencies are that are important to our veterans.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, I just want

          7  to know, because I hear over and over again that the

          8  students don't know. Why don't they know? What are

          9  we doing to make them aware of their benefits? You

         10  said one-on-one?

         11                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: But what else is

         13  happening to make students aware, and what happens

         14  if their benefits don't cover the cost of tuition? I

         15  heard loan. I heard, looking for grant scholarships

         16  and things of that nature. Has that been successful?

         17  Are we losing any veteran students because of lack

         18  of awareness of these benefits or the benefits not

         19  being enough, or not arriving on time? Have we lost

         20  any students, or have we been -- you say, yes?

         21                 MR. WHALEY: Sir, I know a few

         22  personally that I've seen that they left college

         23  because they didn't have the financial means to be

         24  able to go through college and have a full-time job

         25  thereof. So, I know a few personally that have been
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          2  lost because of that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.

          4                 MR. WHALEY: I think the system right

          5  now is fragmented toward the different colleges.

          6  Some have great support systems. I believe Queens

          7  College is one of them that has a good support

          8  system, and then you've got colleges like BMCC, the

          9  college I go to, no support system whatsoever,

         10  except for one veterans person, who is actually just

         11  an assistant registrar who does on the side the

         12  veterans benefits, you know, fills out the

         13  paperwork. Other than that, it's a very fragmented

         14  system.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: See, now, that's

         16  what I'm concerned about. You know, what is CUNY

         17  going to do CUNY-wide, so that we don't lose

         18  students? You know, it looks good on paper, but

         19  what's happening CUNY-wide to assure at BMCC and

         20  other colleges that may not have the support

         21  services that one college has, what's going to

         22  happen to make them aware, and to do the loans, the

         23  scholarships, and all of the things to save them

         24  from having to drop out of college?

         25                 Especially after they came back from
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          2  war and put their lives on the line and now to not

          3  be able to access higher education, you know, is

          4  really a real concern of mine.

          5                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: I'd

          6  like to respond to that, because, you know, with

          7  Vice Chancellor Moore's Initiative, we are beginning

          8  to, you know, place the interns, you know, we have

          9  Hunter and John Jay to start with, hoping to expand

         10  it.

         11                 Part of it is identifying the

         12  veterans very early on, in terms of when they're

         13  coming in. Because as Justin said, there is just so

         14  much to deal with in terms of the bureaucracy, that

         15  a lot of veterans can get overwhelmed with that. Or

         16  as Justin mostly mentioned, sometimes the ones that

         17  are in the most need may be struggling with a lot of

         18  unpleasant memories from their war experience, are

         19  asked to negotiate things by themselves.

         20                 So, the PROVE Project, the idea is to

         21  early hook up with a member of the support team,

         22  start to build a support team. Most campuses have

         23  some really highly dedicated individuals to working

         24  with veterans, but it tends to be fragmented, but

         25  nobody is coordinating or linking those support
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          2  people. And there are services lacking.

          3                 Like at Hunter, there is a large

          4  number of women veterans, and it's very hard to find

          5  a women's veterans support group. You know, I know a

          6  lot of the VA systems and the vet centers, and they

          7  are just not out there. So, a contribution that CUNY

          8  can make is to start to provide groups on site.

          9                 The other principle that I think is

         10  incredibly important is veterans helping other

         11  veterans. Once you get a system set up, and identify

         12  veterans coming in early, and have other veterans,

         13  either as work study, or our project has slots for

         14  mentors, is to hook them up.

         15                 I'll just give you one quick example.

         16  OIF/OEF vets are eligible for two years free medical

         17  care at the VA. A lot of them don't even know that.

         18  So, we went down for an orientation at the Manhattan

         19  VA around this issue. That same afternoon, we met

         20  with a Veteran at Hunter, asked him if he had health

         21  care. He did not. So, we had one of our student

         22  interns take the veteran down to the VA and enroll

         23  him.

         24                 Following up on the principle of

         25  veterans helping veterans, the first veteran who got
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          2  enrolled was then asked to take a second veteran who

          3  was also not enrolled in the VA down to the vet

          4  center. So, that's the system that I think would be

          5  incredibly helpful to veterans.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You know, what

          7  I'm really trying to get here is to see what is

          8  CUNY's centralized response.

          9                 You have a brochure that you give

         10  veterans upon entering, is there an evaluation at

         11  each campus to see where it's weak, where it's

         12  strong, where it needs assistance? Do we have the

         13  number of veteran students at each campus to see? Is

         14  that number available? I would like to know that so

         15  we'll know whether we're strong in Queens, weak

         16  here, and just so that we don't lose any.

         17                 I'm trying to just find out if we

         18  have some centralized approach.

         19                 If a veteran doesn't know about

         20  health benefits, then why don't they know if they,

         21  especially if they come into CUNY, if something

         22  happened upon registration, do you say -- are you

         23  identifying the veteran students and saying, well,

         24  if you're a veteran, take this brochure. Here is

         25  everything that you're entitled to. Is there a
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          2  brochure or something available at freshman

          3  orientation, or at registration?

          4                 Just to make sure that, and I know

          5  you're on top of every school and how they're

          6  responding to whatever number of the veteran

          7  students there are?

          8                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Yes. Our

          9  veterans office, this is a brand new office for us

         10  within student affairs and we are really just

         11  getting off the ground, if you will, but we've made

         12  a very serious commitment to have a full-time staff

         13  in place at CUNY Central for veterans.

         14                 But beyond that, I agree with you,

         15  that we ought to have, and we must have a seamless

         16  approach for veterans, just like we have for all of

         17  our students, to get financial aid, child care,

         18  health care, whatever the needs are.

         19                 We do have a brochure that we're

         20  putting in place right now. We're developing a lot

         21  of things, and I believe that -- not believe, I know

         22  that we have a documented place at this point that

         23  provides for our veterans what the services are that

         24  are available within CUNY today for them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And I also want
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          2  to get clear, I have the document here, you don't

          3  have a brochure right now that you're giving to

          4  students when they register?

          5                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: No, we're just

          6  getting off the ground with that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Because, I mean,

          8  that's critical because then, you know, upon

          9  registration they will have immediate information

         10  and places they can contact within CUNY, if not at

         11  their particular college, at least at CUNY central.

         12                 Is there a person at every campus

         13  that's dealing with --

         14                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: There is.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: There is a

         16  person.

         17                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: There is a

         18  person identified on each campus that deals with

         19  veterans.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: On each campus.

         21                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Are there any

         23  outreach connections through organizations? Because

         24  I heard the testimony where you're utilizing at

         25  LaGuardia the Black Vets for Social Justice, and I
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          2  know Joe Mashareki (phonetic) here in Brooklyn and

          3  the Black Vets, they do a great job, a great

          4  service. So, is there more outreach to community

          5  organizations that could assist students at CUNY?

          6                 I'll leave it at this last question

          7  so my colleague can get some in, and anybody else

          8  that wants to talk, but I'm always concerned about a

          9  centralized, that CUNY is on top of it. They know

         10  how many students are at each veterans -- do we know

         11  that? How many veteran students at each campus?

         12                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: We know. I

         13  don't have the number with me today, but we --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: If I could get

         15  that, I'd appreciate it.

         16                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Okay.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I need to have

         18  that so I can know how many veteran students are at

         19  each campus, and we do know that for those veterans

         20  students, there's at least one person there dealing

         21  with veterans issues, and we will get a brochure at

         22  -- and is the number correct? About 1,625 veterans?

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: There's

         24  approximately 3,000 that we have identified within

         25  our system.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Oh, 3,000.

          3                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Yes, 3,000

          4  that we have identified at this point.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Wow.

          6                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: And you asked

          7  about the brochure, we are developing one. We do

          8  have a website that's part of our CUNY website for

          9  veterans and we recently hosted a Citywide veterans

         10  fair at the Borough of Manhattan Community College,

         11  where we invited all veterans to come.

         12                 So, we're doing a lot of outreach in

         13  terms of helping veterans.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, that's

         15  good, if you have kind of a hit or a miss thing, if

         16  you have a computer and you have access to the

         17  technology, most of them may have access to that, so

         18  that's a good piece.

         19                 But I think just in addition to that,

         20  the brochure would be helpful.

         21                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Yes. And we

         22  are working on that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Knowing how many

         24  on each campus and that there is a person there so

         25  that people will at least, the veterans will at

                                                            52

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND VETERANS COMMITTEE

          2  least be aware and then go from awareness to, you

          3  know, other kinds of assistance.

          4                 I'll stop there so my colleague,

          5  Council Member Monserrate, can have some questions

          6  for you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Barron. Actually, I don't have too

          9  many questions. I want to thank you for your

         10  testimony. I thought it was very insightful.

         11                 And I also understand that CUNY has

         12  been for some time doing or providing rather some

         13  services to the veterans community, clearly,

         14  however, from my perspective we can always do more

         15  and that's why we're having this hearing, to attempt

         16  to collaborate and establish what those things are.

         17                 A few of the questions that I have,

         18  or just two or three, to make them very brief:

         19  Specifically what happens if a veteran who is a

         20  reservist, is activated while he's attending school

         21  at a CUNY school? What policies do you have in place

         22  for that?

         23                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: We will assist

         24  that veteran with deregistering, if you will, at the

         25  college. We'll help them to officially withdraw and
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          2  receive whatever refunds he or she may require.

          3                 But equally important, we'll also

          4  help them continue their education through distance

          5  education. We'll help them to get registered with

          6  classes using the distance education process so that

          7  they won't have to lose their continuing education

          8  benefits.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay. And

         10  just following up with my colleague's question about

         11  the type of form. Maybe the representative from

         12  LaGuardia can speak to this.

         13                 Is there going to be a uniform form

         14  regarding, or brochure or informational available to

         15  CUNY students. There isn't one now; is that correct?

         16  There is not one; is that correct?

         17                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Okay. So, I'm

         19  asking a question and perhaps making a suggestion

         20  that perhaps one be developed?

         21                 MR. FARRELL: A form?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Yes. A

         23  brochure, a form, guidelines and principles,

         24  information booklet, pamphlet for CUNY students who

         25  are veterans.
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          2                 MR. FARRELL: Yes. LaGuardia has

          3  already started this process with the funding that

          4  will be received from CUNY. And one of the things

          5  that we saw was that there were many different

          6  departments that touched veterans, and we needed to

          7  have all of this information in one booklet. Not

          8  only for the veterans, but also for the Department

          9  themselves, because they also needed to know what

         10  the Department's are doing in reference to

         11  individual veterans.

         12                 So, I think that we have started that

         13  process. I think the resource center will assist by

         14  providing another brochure, an updated one, which is

         15  very important, because it is so hard to get updated

         16  information on where a veteran can get assistance.

         17  Not only in terms of government agencies, but also

         18  community-based organizations.

         19                 So, I think the Veterans Resource

         20  Center will also assist with that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: Well,

         24  again, part of the initiative for PROVE, which is

         25  the CUNY initiative for all the campuses, we have
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          2  brochures that are being developed. So, --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Would you

          4  just identify yourself again?

          5                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: Yes.

          6  Roger Sherwood.

          7                 So, we have brochures that PROVE has

          8  developed. Again, we're only six weeks into this

          9  project and this is, you know, a pilot project and

         10  we're getting an excellent response from the

         11  veterans. It takes time to kind of engage in them.

         12                 The principle of having the veteran,

         13  and I like the idea which was suggested, early on,

         14  the registration, to get them hooked up with

         15  somebody. Because part of it is, just like you

         16  raised the issue about deployment, well, even though

         17  there are policies in place which are very helpful,

         18  what happens is individual veterans get lost.  And

         19  we just had one over at John Jay, where she had

         20  gotten her orders for deployment, and she was

         21  deployed and she was told to put in for an

         22  incomplete, anyway they ended up changing to Fs

         23  because some part of the system, her orders did not

         24  get processed. So, we went with her. One of the team

         25  members went with her over to the registrar. But
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          2  that's an example, you know, it's like the systems

          3  are in place, but often the individual veterans, you

          4  know, get caught, you know, have a problem.

          5                 This veteran, also, had a lot of

          6  issues from her tour, so it makes it very difficult

          7  by yourselves to go in and deal with the

          8  bureaucracy.

          9                 So, again, the principle of PROVE is

         10  to not have them do that alone. They get the

         11  information, but they'll also be accompanied by

         12  either a veteran or another one of the interns, you

         13  know, to go through that process.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

         15  Avella. And Council Member Brewer, you had

         16  questions?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you,

         20  Chair Barron.

         21                 A couple of questions. First of all,

         22  and it goes to some of the questions that have

         23  already been asked, how do you initially identify a

         24  veteran who enters the CUNY system?

         25                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: Well,
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          2  one of the systems that is set up is those who have

          3  applied for benefits, because there is a certified

          4  official at each campus, so he or she has a roster

          5  of those veterans.

          6                 That does not include all of the

          7  veterans in each campus, but those are the ones that

          8  we're attempting to make initial, you know, contact

          9  with, to make sure that they've gotten the benefits

         10  that they're entitled to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: But it has to

         12  be the veteran who makes that initial contact for

         13  you to know who they are?

         14                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Why aren't we

         16  doing something in reverse? Isn't there an

         17  application process when you apply for college? Why

         18  can't there be something on the application form

         19  saying are you a veteran?

         20                 You're shaking your head; does that

         21  mean yes?

         22                 ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR SHERWOOD: I

         23  absolutely agree. I don't know if there is a

         24  universal thing. It's an excellent question, because

         25  that's the earliest detection, in terms of whether
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          2  they're a veteran.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Well, can we

          4  make that suggestion and ask you to review it, that

          5  the application form should be changed on all the

          6  colleges in the City, are you a veteran?

          7                 MR. FARRELL: We are already doing

          8  this at LaGuardia. And that is, you can identify who

          9  is the veteran from their applications. And I think

         10  what is important is they need to be identified,

         11  whether they're using educational benefits or not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Right.

         13  Exactly.

         14                 MR. FARRELL: I mean, what's also

         15  important in that is that by identifying the

         16  veterans before they even come into the college, we

         17  are able to set up an orientation for them to start

         18  sharing with them information about benefits.

         19                 Maybe they're not eligible for

         20  educational benefits, but they are eligible for

         21  other benefits. So, it's important that this is done

         22  up front.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Right. That's

         24  my whole point. And I think I can say that's

         25  something that has to be done Citywide throughout
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          2  the CUNY system, and I think that should be the

          3  first thing that should be on the application form.

          4                 It shouldn't be a situation where

          5  they have to come to you. And I compliment CUNY,

          6  because you're probably doing more than government

          7  is doing at this point.

          8                 My other comment is also in response

          9  to some of the other questions that have been

         10  raised, and some of your comments about outreach.

         11  Clearly everybody needs to be doing more, CUNY,

         12  City, State and Federal Government, because the

         13  veterans don't know what benefits they're entitled

         14  to.

         15                 I just want to make a quick comment

         16  of Vice Chancellor Moore's statement about, that the

         17  CUNY Student Affairs Division recently sponsored a

         18  calling all guards event with the Brooklyn Cyclones

         19  at Fort Totten. You know, that's in my district, I

         20  knew nothing about this event. I happened to be

         21  going by Fort Totten and saw a little sign outside

         22  the Fort/Park. But who is doing the outreach on

         23  something like that? I mean, I'm not asking for an

         24  immediate response, but it does go to the whole

         25  issue of who are we reaching? Who are we letting
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          2  know that these events do happen? And that we're

          3  only reaching a small percentage of the population.

          4  Because clearly the veterans don't know what

          5  benefits they're entitled to.

          6                 So, I would only suggest that we take

          7  a look at who and how we're doing the outreach and

          8  just do a better job of it, and then I think not

          9  only CUNY, but everybody needs to do that.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         12  much. Council Member Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. If

         14  this has been asked, let me know.

         15                 I had the nice opportunity to go to

         16  John Jay the other day, when Commissioner Roger

         17  Newman was honored, and he is, of course, a graduate

         18  and a Vietnam vet and the new commissioner. And a

         19  couple of students spoke, and John Jay has one of

         20  the largest bodies of veterans, and a couple of

         21  students spoke, and even with John Jay's history,

         22  there are needs for lots and lots of services.

         23                 It was interesting because the

         24  Commissioner stated that when he got out of Vietnam

         25  he had a job, he had three kids, and a family, and
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          2  he just worked, and then when he finally realized he

          3  wanted to go to school, he didn't know what his

          4  benefits are. He had to figure out how to work,

          5  provide for the family, go to school, deal with the

          6  benefits. And it was interesting because the young

          7  man came running in, who is head of the Committee at

          8  John Jay, in charge of benefits as a student, and he

          9  said he was running because he was on the clock at

         10  work, and he had been asked to speak for a few

         11  minutes, and he ran out.

         12                 So, how much things don't change as

         13  we're all trying to struggle. But the issue is, even

         14  at John Jay, there is desperate need for what you

         15  are describing.

         16                 So, my question is, and I know you

         17  might have discussed this, but I know the

         18  Commissioner from his previous job, and I know how

         19  good he is, and I think what he is going to try to

         20  do, and the whole Administration, is pull in every

         21  other agency possible to figure out where these

         22  benefits are.

         23                 You know, even finance -- my husband

         24  is a vet, so I hear about a lot of these sometimes

         25  easy-to-get, and sometimes hard-to-get benefits, but
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          2  how are you going to coordinate what that agency is

          3  doing with each one of your campuses? How are you

          4  going to coordinate the Mayor's office with each one

          5  of your campuses, in terms of how they're pulling in

          6  services.

          7                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE: Mr. Chair, may

          8  I ask Vice Chancellor Hershenson to respond to that

          9  question, please?

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I need to swear

         11  you in.

         12                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         13  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We've got to make

         15  sure you're telling the truth, Jay.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         17  your right hand.

         18                 Do you swear that the testimony that

         19  you're about to give is truthful and accurate?

         20                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         21  Yes, Ma'am.

         22                 (Witness sworn.)

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: State your name

         24  for the record.

         25                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON: My
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          2  name is Jay Hershenson. I am the Senior Vice

          3  Chancellor for University Relations, and I'm

          4  secretary of the Board of Trustees.

          5                 Let me first go back and indicate to

          6  my friend, Council Member Tony Avella, that on page

          7  two, item 14 of the CUNY application, you are asked

          8  about your veteran status.

          9                 Secondly, if I may respond, Mr.

         10  Chairman, and Mr. Chairman, several weeks ago we met

         11  with the Commissioner of Veterans Affairs of the

         12  City, who for the first time is a CUNY graduate from

         13  John Jay College of Criminal Justice. And at that

         14  meeting, we talked about the fact that Vice

         15  Chancellor Moore and his staff had put together a

         16  Citywide veterans fair at Baruch College. And that's

         17  the kind of thing, I think you would agree, we need

         18  to do on a regular basis.

         19                 What we have suggested to the City is

         20  that there be a veteran services day, which would

         21  occur before Memorial Day, obviously some time in

         22  May, and that the City bring together all of the

         23  agencies in the City that have some impact on the

         24  quality of life for veterans that we, CUNY, would

         25  host that Citywide veteran services day, that we
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          2  would work with the City, and we have been told now

          3  by the Commissioner that they are going to activate

          4  an executive order, which has established a

          5  structure for City agencies to participate in the

          6  helping to improve the quality of life of veterans.

          7  We would, of course, host it, we'll help get it

          8  together, and then from the point that the Steering

          9  Committee meets, until the fair, we would engage in

         10  the first Citywide publicity push for veterans to

         11  attend.

         12                 This would also send a tremendous

         13  signal to the University, and I would like to

         14  propose that we work closely with the Chairs of

         15  these two committees, because this is a first-time

         16  opportunity for there to be a Citywide push with

         17  CUNY being the host, the City Council having helped

         18  us at LaGuardia and elsewhere, so I think we have a

         19  great opportunity here to play a leadership role,

         20  and I think that's the message that Vice Chancellor

         21  Moore and I would like to give on behalf of the

         22  University.

         23                 So, it was a perfect question. We had

         24  not spoken before, but that's what we're doing with

         25  the City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Jay, one other

          3  quick question, which is: that sounds great and that

          4  can open up the dialogue, because when you're

          5  sitting there as everybody is at Hunter or LaGuardia

          6  or wherever, and somebody has just bought a home, if

          7  that's possible, and basically for disabled you

          8  don't pay any property taxes, so that kind of thing

          9  would be a perfect example that fast, you need to

         10  get it in fast, et cetera.

         11                 So, you would have the dialogues that

         12  would develop, that you could get the right person

         13  in finance to be able to help. I assume that's the

         14  goal.

         15                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         16  And one last piece. We need follow-up, because if

         17  we're going to do a Citywide veteran services day,

         18  we can't have veterans look at us the next day and

         19  say what happens next.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. That's

         21  the problem.

         22                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON: So

         23  what we want to do is work with 3-1-1, and,

         24  remember, we have CUNY students now in the 3-1-1

         25  program, and create a situation in the City where a
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          2  veteran can make one phone call, even before they

          3  get to a CUNY campus and find out the kind of

          4  information that Chair Barron and Chair Monserrate

          5  are talking about.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Can I just say

          7  that makes sense, but you have to have 3-1-1

          8  back-up, because the 3-1-1 operator is not going to

          9  be able to do that in-depth. So you might have to

         10  work with United Ways, E-3-1-1/2-1-1 new system that

         11  they're now implementing that we'll have caseworkers

         12  and social workers to back up all human services,

         13  which is a new system.

         14                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON: We

         15  will check into that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And you should

         17  really be part of that.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

         20  Avella.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: So, based upon

         22  your testimony, there is a line on the CUNY

         23  application form are you a veteran? What do we do

         24  with that information?

         25                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:
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          2  The information is, of course, routed through the

          3  Office of Admission Services. My phone keeps going

          4  off. And then as a student is allocated to the

          5  individual college, that application goes to the

          6  individual college, and they're responsible for the

          7  follow-up with the student, whether it's financial

          8  aid counseling, or veteran services.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: So, again, it

         10  seems to be where it goes down to does the student

         11  actually then make outreach to the college? Even

         12  though it's on the form, it's not the reverse, where

         13  the college is reaching out to the veteran student,

         14  obviously, because the fact that the panel didn't

         15  even know it was on the form, except for LaGuardia.

         16                 So, obviously, there needs to be a

         17  change in policy here, where who is ever the

         18  representative at that particular college should

         19  immediately reach out to that veteran.

         20                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         21  Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Rather than

         23  the veteran waiting to contact them.

         24                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON: We

         25  will certainly take a look at that and we will
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          2  report back to the Committee chairs.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Okay. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Just one last question. Jay, we

          8  definitely will work with you on the Citywide

          9  effort. I think it's an excellent idea. And even if

         10  we do some of the things like we do around financial

         11  aid sometimes in a borough, you know, the Citywide

         12  effort would be excellent, and I think if we also

         13  try to do smaller things in each borough like you do

         14  in our districts some time around financial aid or

         15  accessibility to CUNY, you know, it could be

         16  something we could work out.

         17                 And let me --

         18                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         19  Can I just say for the record, we will work with

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay, great.

         22                 Let me just ask you something else. I

         23  think you had three programs, the New York City

         24  Council, Veterans Resource Center was mentioned, the

         25  Veterans Service Collaborative Initiative and the
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          2  CUNY funding for veteran services. What's the total

          3  amount of money available, and the federally funded

          4  veterans Upward Bound Project, what's the kind of

          5  money with all of these programs that's working even

          6  within CUNY or around CUNY or collaborating with

          7  CUNY, what kind of money does these programs have to

          8  really do the work?

          9                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         10  Well, I have to be very candid, there has not been,

         11  with the exception of through the leadership of

         12  Council Member Monserrate, if you think about it,

         13  there has not been earmarked appropriations for

         14  veterans services at City University. You know,

         15  Council Member Barron is Chair of the Higher Ed

         16  Committee, there are a number of Higher Ed Committee

         17  members here, we have not seen that.

         18                 We did have an item during the last

         19  session --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right.

         21                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON: --

         22  Which a number of members pushed for very strongly,

         23  and which we still have high hopes for, there is a

         24  $6.2 million student services allocation which would

         25  have provided additional support to veterans
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          2  services. So, what's basically happening, and it's

          3  true with the community colleges, as well as the

          4  senior colleges, they're squeezing their student

          5  services staffs, and their student service

          6  allocations in order to help veterans. That has to

          7  change. And I think that the work of Council Member

          8  Monserrate, where we need, we do need earmarked

          9  funding, and the earmarked funding doesn't have to

         10  be so huge, because we can leverage support, you

         11  know, that's provided to, for example, LaGuardia at

         12  other levels of government. But the honest candid

         13  answer is, the colleges have been squeezing their

         14  student services staffs, just as has been said by a

         15  number of people testifying, up until the time that

         16  Vice Chancellor Moore came to CUNY.

         17                 The reason why you've heard in the

         18  last few months, in the last six weeks, there has

         19  now been an effort to make sure that every school

         20  does have a coordinator, that's very recent. And

         21  we're doing that because 10,000 veterans are going

         22  to be returning to this area.

         23                 So, the candid answer is, we're not

         24  there, in terms of veterans support, and to say

         25  anything else would be misleading.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I

          3  appreciate an honest answer. That's why I'm raising

          4  it. Because we're certainly going to support Council

          5  Member Monserrate. I don't think a million is

          6  enough. I think you did a great job, and even to get

          7  that through is challenging here some time. We've

          8  definitely got to work to get the 6.2 million

          9  through, but I think we should even work as a team

         10  here at City Hall to double its efforts.

         11                 What does CUNY put into veterans? Any

         12  money in the CUNY budget, that CUNY puts in it?

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         14  What CUNY has been doing all of these years, and

         15  you're both graduates of CUNY, is relying on the

         16  Student Affairs and Student Services operations to

         17  have a person work part-time or a third of the time,

         18  to help veterans.

         19                 So, of course --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, there is no

         21  separate budget for veterans.

         22                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         23  No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: It's just trying

         25  to integrate it with the college services.
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          2                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

          3  Thank you very much. We thank you very much for your

          4  testimony.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Jay, I have

          6  one more question. Sorry.

          7                 I always look to see if there is

          8  Department of Defense money? Is the Washington

          9  office looking at that? Or are you looking at that

         10  for grants, Department of Defense? Because that's

         11  where Bella got her breast cancer money, was from

         12  Department of Defense.

         13                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

         14  Yes, we are. And we are working now for the first

         15  time with a firm in Washington to identify possible

         16  appropriations that would be available to the

         17  University.

         18                 We just did a CUNY On The Hill about

         19  two and a half weeks ago to really start that

         20  process. That also will involve earmarked

         21  appropriations, of course a different kind of

         22  earmarking because it will come from the agencies,

         23  but, yes, and we're doing it in accordance with each

         24  college having two or three projects.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For defense
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          2  money?

          3                 SENIOR VICE CHANCELLOR HERSHENSON:

          4  And other arms of the Executive --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But I'm just

          6  saying there is often defense money for very strange

          7  things.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

         10  much. We thank the panel for their testimony. We

         11  will follow-up on the, I think great suggestions

         12  that you made, and we'll go forward.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 Next panel.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Mariette

         16  Kalinowski. W. Alexander Pas.

         17                 Please raise your right hands.

         18                 Do you swear that the testimony that

         19  you're about to give will be truthful and accurate?

         20                 MR. PAS: I do.

         21                 MS. KALINOWSKI: I do.

         22                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         24  your name for the record before you begin.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MS. KALINOWSKI: I am Mariette

          3  Kalinowski, and I am a sophomore at Hunter College.

          4  I am a Corporal in the United States Marine Corps

          5  Reserves, and I am a work study student with Dr.

          6  Roger Sherwood with the PROVE program.

          7                 I was activated in November, 2004 to

          8  Camp Legume, where I was deployed to Iraq from

          9  September of 2005 until March of 2006, specializing

         10  in convoy security and mounted patrols through the

         11  Alam Bart Province (phonetic). I was discharged from

         12  active duty in September 2006, where upon that time

         13  I moved here to New York City, and I transferred to

         14  Hunter College in spring of 2005.

         15                 I was aware of my veterans benefits

         16  when I first transferred to Hunter College, mostly

         17  because as a reservist, I had already been drawing

         18  those benefits before my activation. However, I was

         19  not aware at first of the "kicker" 1607 to help with

         20  tuition, and there is still several out-of-state

         21  issues, which I am attempting to deal with, and I

         22  mostly helped myself and when I became aware of the

         23  PROVE Project, I joined knowing that my experiences

         24  helping myself would help other veterans.

         25                 The biggest issue is concerning the
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          2  teamwork aspect and realizing that military veterans

          3  do work best in a cooperative situation, and it's

          4  definitely, it's beneficial because when veterans

          5  become involved, they feel like they are benefitting

          6  more because of that situation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          8  much for your testimony.

          9                 Next.

         10                 MR. PAS: Good afternoon, Honorable

         11  City Council members. My name is W. Alexander Pas. I

         12  am a member of various veteran organizations, one of

         13  them which is the Manhattan Chapter, Vietnam

         14  Veterans, which I am the veterans advocate and the

         15  Housing Committee advocate.

         16                 I'm also a Board member of the

         17  Brooklyn Kings County Hispanic Chamber of Commerce

         18  of which I am the supporter for veteran-owned

         19  businesses and businesses owned by the disabled.

         20                 I'll also tell you that I'm also an

         21  accredited service rep, and have been in the

         22  trenches working with veterans many, many years, and

         23  I have worked previously under the Mayor's Office as

         24  a Taxi and Limousine Job Coordinator, and have

         25  worked with Hunter College in referring students
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          2  there for education, also with LaGuardia when they

          3  had the Taxi Limousine Program, et cetera.

          4                 To answer I think your question about

          5  funding, it is very important that a continuation of

          6  the tuition remains in place, in order for students

          7  to keep on track with their education. I think what

          8  needs to be brought back is sometimes these students

          9  are probably going to school part-time and probably

         10  working, of which I think we should bring back and

         11  support an older program called JTP Ed, which was

         12  the Job Partnership Training Act, which was allowing

         13  employees to help fund the tuition so that their

         14  employee could continue their education if it

         15  benefitted that particular person in their business.

         16  So, with that being said, that's one of the

         17  initiatives I think that should be followed up on.

         18                 I also have to agree with Councilman

         19  Avella, that why aren't certain questions being

         20  asked right up front? Spending ten years with the

         21  Department of Homeless Services in a real estate

         22  capacity, and also holding a real estate, New York

         23  State real estate license, I had questioned one of

         24  the problems in Department of Homeless Services,

         25  that when they had a client come into the
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          2  homelessness, that the veteran question was not

          3  asked. And we helped start up Borden Avenue, and to

          4  my discouragement hearing that Borden Avenue is

          5  strictly not all veterans, but there is a general

          6  population there, and I heard there's been crack

          7  addicts and drug dealers and everybody else in

          8  there, that the veterans throughout the City should

          9  know, because that was one of the stabilizing points

         10  for veterans to have access to the other services -

         11  their VA services, educational services, et cetera.

         12                 I would believe that even though we

         13  probably wouldn't get the cooperation of DOD, giving

         14  us a list of what is, you know, the monthly

         15  separation dischargees, so that the State and the

         16  City could probably send out a personal welcome home

         17  letter, that would probably be way too costly. But I

         18  think if you can get the cooperation of the press,

         19  such as the Daily News or the Post, maybe a two-inch

         20  ad, saying welcome home veterans, and just placing

         21  maybe that 2-1-1 number, as Council Member Brewer

         22  made mention of or 3-1-1 number, or even a website

         23  number, I'm sure the veteran can go into a public

         24  library and gain access to much of this information.

         25                 I would also like to see, I guess,
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          2  you know, black veterans, you know, I know Joe

          3  Meseriki (phonetic) very well, and Michael Handy,

          4  who I have worked for, God bless his soul, and I've

          5  been honored by them when I've participated with

          6  them as the job developer counselor. I was a veteran

          7  advocate even before I became a veteran myself, a

          8  Marine Corps, honorably discharged, two tours

          9  Vietnam. When I came out, I had a problem seeking

         10  jobs myself. Luckily enough, one of my other

         11  occupations landed me into the fiscal kind of

         12  administrative end to work in Wall Street.

         13                 Luckily enough, I landed a good job.

         14  I in turn wanted to go and do bigger things, so I

         15  opened up a business, and I had a business for five

         16  years in Bayridge, Brooklyn, and I just attended a

         17  very nice event that Senator Marty Golden had given,

         18  and I respect, you know, many of the Councilpeople

         19  and other politicians that do these recognition days

         20  for veterans. That's also obviously another

         21  resource.

         22                 But getting back to the Veteran

         23  Service Organizations, and/or the VA, there was

         24  established, I think it was called "the roving van,"

         25  it was a van that basically had VA personnel to give
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          2  vital check-up medical on the street to veterans who

          3  basically could produce that they were a veteran on

          4  the street, and that was one of the resource areas

          5  to assimilate information about other things within

          6  the veterans community - housing. Because it was run

          7  by John Leguna and the Commonwealth Veterans up in

          8  the Bronx. And I'd like to see more of that kind of

          9  initiative out there, because obviously we're having

         10  to deal with not just veterans who are walking down

         11  the street who are not homeless, who see this, but

         12  those who are homeless and need to be stabilized,

         13  whether it does mean they need drug and alcohol

         14  counseling, or Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

         15  situations, or other situations.

         16                 I will end on this note, that

         17  education and training won't do any good if the

         18  veteran is homeless and doesn't get stabilized. Or

         19  if they have other financial-related problems that

         20  they need to address. And I, myself, as a veteran,

         21  you know, I'll do 24/7 if I can, and do all I can to

         22  assist anybody who wants to work with me.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

         25  you both very much for the testimony. I agree with
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          2  you on the homelessness, and the joblessness. I

          3  think those are the key issues.

          4                 Ms. Kalinowski?

          5                 MS. KALINOWSKI: Yes, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right, Ms.

          7  Kalinowski. I wanted to ask you, when you signed up

          8  for CUNY, did you fill out the form and check off

          9  that you were a veteran?

         10                 MS. KALINOWSKI: Yes, sir. It was

         11  because I was a transfer that I believe it was a

         12  little bit of a shorter form, but there was a point

         13  on the application that I did indicate that I was a

         14  veteran, and I did provide documentation to the

         15  veterans certifying official -- about my deployment,

         16  the VA DD214 form.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So it kind of

         18  worked for you?

         19                 MS. KALINOWSKI: Well, yes, sir. But I

         20  was aware of that portion of the application

         21  process. The initial phase of application for many

         22  veterans is familiar because there is transitional

         23  training upon leaving active duty. It's short

         24  classes, letting discharging service members know

         25  what they're qualified for, but it's the follow-up
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          2  portion of the application --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: The follow-up.

          4                 MS. KALINOWSKI: -- Which is sometimes

          5  lacking.

          6                 But that may be contributing maybe

          7  PTSD and other social disorders, because many

          8  veterans do have anxieties about coming forward or

          9  even just dealing with uncomfortable situations and

         10  people that they're not familiar with.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

         12  Brewer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         14  think Hunter is very fortunate that you're there.

         15                 MS. KALINOWSKI: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: My question

         17  is, how do you -- obviously you have the wherewithal

         18  to figure out some of these benefits, but do you

         19  think with a new reinvigorated Mayor's Office of

         20  Veterans Affairs that there would be some room on

         21  campus to coordinate what all these different City

         22  agencies coordinate with students who are veterans?

         23  Would that be helpful so that you wouldn't have to

         24  do it on your own? And how could that be

         25  facilitated, do you think?
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          2                 MS. KALINOWSKI: Well, certainly there

          3  is plenty of room for outside collaboration and that

          4  is, as Dr. Sherwood said, one of the aims of the

          5  PROVE project and other initiatives. But probably

          6  the largest room for improvement is working with

          7  outside employment agencies, and such, so that there

          8  is that coordination so that just as veterans had

          9  transitioned out of the service, there is a

         10  transition out of the education system into the

         11  civilian workplace.

         12                 There is plenty of issues concerning

         13  also the internal and administrations of campuses.

         14  Many of the departments that I interacted with, such

         15  as Financial Aid, it's not that they did not want to

         16  help, it's more or less they were ignorant

         17  themselves of what benefits veterans qualify for.

         18                 So, it's not just veterans themselves

         19  may be unaware, but it may be the administration, as

         20  well.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

         23  Monserrate.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         25                 I don't really have any questions
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          2  regarding that. Just a question, are you Marine

          3  Corps?

          4                 MS. KALINOWSKI: It's Marine Corps,

          5  sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I want to thank

          7  both of you very much for your testimony, and we'll

          8  certainly take it on record. It will be very

          9  instrumental, your testimony --

         10                 MR. PAS: I just would like to add one

         11  more note for the record. I do know that with the

         12  vast amount of homelessness out there, and as I

         13  said, that leads to the other things, such as

         14  education. There are social service organizations

         15  out there, housing providers, that are under the

         16  disguise of, you know, non-for-profit, and really

         17  have no understanding of veteran issues and their

         18  social service arm connected to that normally does

         19  not cooperate.

         20                 I have been working with clients in

         21  such social service supportive housing programs, and

         22  have had conflicts with the landlords of their

         23  abusiveness. And as I see probably one particular

         24  organization that seems to be wanting to get more

         25  involved in the veteran organizations, or veteran
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          2  services for housing, I am basically totally against

          3  their involvement into our community because they

          4  have not proven to me that they are doing right for

          5  their own tenants, let alone veterans.

          6                 It falls under the fact that the

          7  management turns out to be against the veteran and

          8  then the social services sides along with

          9  management, and if there is a private security guard

         10  company in there, then also they side along.

         11                 Just recently a veteran who I had to

         12  defend with the Commission on Human Rights for an

         13  ADA --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Let me do this,

         15  it's duly noted --

         16                 MR. PAS: I understand. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's another

         18  kind of issue for another hearing.

         19                 MR. PAS: I know.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: But it's duly

         21  noted.

         22                 MR. PAS: Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Jason Sharpe;
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          2  Daw Rossi; Ralph D. Toro; Jose Cabrera.

          3                 Would you raise your right hands?

          4                 Do you swear that the testimony that

          5  you're about to give is truthful and accurate?

          6                 MR. SHARPE: Yes.

          7                 MR. ROSSI: Yes.

          8                 MR. TORO: Yes.

          9                 MR. CABRERA: Yes.

         10                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         12  your names for the record before you begin.

         13                 MR. D. TORO: My name is Ralph D.

         14  Toro. And I'm with the Disabled Veterans Action

         15  Committee. I'm also on the Committee of COVO, and

         16  I'm going to be very, very brief in my testimony.

         17                 And I want to applaud the gentlemen

         18  from CUNY for all they have done for veterans and

         19  they have treated this here problem that the

         20  veterans are having.

         21                 But none of this is going to be

         22  resolved unless we catch the veteran. That means the

         23  veterans has to get the information. And the

         24  information has to be gotten, not on the CUNY level,

         25  it has to be gotten before he gets out of the
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          2  service.

          3                 And I think it was in 2003 when the

          4  Veterans Committee first started, I proposed a

          5  suggestion for Veterans Committee, to get a list

          6  from the Department of the Defense that all of this

          7  information be gotten to the veterans before they

          8  get discharged. That was almost four years ago, and

          9  nothing has been done.

         10                 That's very important to get this

         11  information to veterans, because not every veteran

         12  is going to go to college. Not every veteran is

         13  going to. You've got to get them in the beginning,

         14  those that want to go to college, those that don't

         15  want to go to college. Here are your benefits. Here

         16  is how you access your benefits, even though you're

         17  not going to go to college. And the only way to do

         18  this is not with a little two-inch ad; it's

         19  investment of a few dollars. It's not a lot of

         20  money. Because even if it's 10,000 veterans a year

         21  that gets out to the Department of Defense, it's

         22  pennies, and you save lives of what we call heroes,

         23  and we should treat them as such. So, one of the

         24  things, that's my comment about getting the people

         25  involved so they don't fall between the cracks. Not
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          2  getting them always down the line. Because when I

          3  came out 40 years ago, I didn't --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: I just want

          5  to state for the record, you look really good for

          6  someone who got out of service 40 years ago.

          7                 MR. TORO: Thank you very much. I

          8  appreciate that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: Keep it up,

         10  whatever you're doing, keep it up.

         11                 MR. TORO: I didn't go to college

         12  until almost 25 years later, and I did my own

         13  research about going to college. We've got to catch

         14  these young men and women beforehand and educate

         15  them to what their benefits are, both with a college

         16  and without a college. And one of the points that

         17  Dan is going to speak about that is another

         18  important factor besides the education, is when you

         19  come out of service it's jobs. To work, to get a

         20  job, to start your life over again. Most veterans

         21  during my era when I came out, we went to get a job

         22  because our old jobs were gone, and they didn't want

         23  to take us back, whatever, we needed to get a job.

         24  And then I went to college after. If we don't have a

         25  mechanism by which veterans know this, they're
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          2  constantly going to, and it's starts from the City,

          3  you know, we served our country, we served our State

          4  and we served our City. If we fall through the

          5  federal level and through the State, we'd like the

          6  City to be underneath there to catch us, or the

          7  gentlemen and ladies that just come back from these

          8  conflicts. So, it's very important that we

          9  understand that to get in touch with the veteran.

         10                 But my point is, that's four years

         11  that we haven't done anything about getting a list

         12  of veterans, and unless we get on this, all of this

         13  is moot. And then we call these people heroes. If we

         14  advocate for veterans, we've got to show it, and

         15  with that, I'd just like to thank the Committee

         16  before, I didn't thank you, Barron and Monserrate,

         17  for having this meeting. And from that, I want to

         18  turn everything else over to Dan, to this young

         19  gentleman here who served in Iraqi.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MR. TORO: Go ahead.

         23                 MR. CABRERA: The education is very

         24  important.

         25                 MR. TORO: You've got to say your
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          2  name.

          3                 MR. CABRERA: Oh, I'm sorry. Jose

          4  Cabrera. I'm Lance Corporal in the Marine Corps.

          5  Did two tours in Iraq, 2003 and 2005. Education is

          6  important, but, you know, I know I can't go to

          7  school and work at the same time and make enough

          8  money. I didn't know a lot -- I knew a lot about the

          9  education things. I didn't know a lot about jobs,

         10  getting jobs, and I found out that when you're a

         11  veteran you're allowed to be a vendor. And I

         12  thought, hey, this is a job that will go great with

         13  school, flexible, I can go out, I can work for

         14  myself and I'd be able to do these things, and

         15  actually going through the process I found out it's

         16  not as easy as it would sound. And it's important to

         17  focus on education, but it's also important to be

         18  able to put yourself through these schools.

         19                 If you don't qualify for all the

         20  money you need, how are you going to supplement

         21  yourself, and how are you going to be able to make

         22  it through with this, and I just think it's

         23  important to look at other things and say, are these

         24  veterans being treated right in these other

         25  situations, not just with education, but can they
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          2  provide for themselves, can they provide for their

          3  family?

          4                 I just think that being a vendor

          5  would have been an easy way. I'm still pursuing it,

          6  but I think it would be one of the easiest ways I

          7  could do that, and as a veteran I know it's my

          8  right, and it's a little confusing why it's a

          9  process that's made a little harder than maybe it

         10  should be. So, it worries me a little bit, but I

         11  think that's pretty much what I have to say about

         12  that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

         14                 MR. CABRERA: Thank you.

         15                 MR. ROSSI: Yes. Good afternoon. My

         16  name is Dan Rossi. I'm a vendors advocate. First,

         17  I'd like to thank you for the money, because it took

         18  a long time to get it. Second thing is the Bronx is

         19  the best borough, so between Queens and Brooklyn,

         20  forget it.

         21                 But to get on this other issue, I've

         22  been to a number of hearings and today was a good

         23  day for me. Not only did I accompany a few men down

         24  to see if they can get a vending license, which they

         25  were denied, because they're veterans, of all
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          2  things, but when we ran into Councilman Avella, he

          3  just told me that he's going to use his special

          4  privilege to have two introductions pushed into the

          5  hearing room, it will probably go to Consumer

          6  Affairs, and they have to do with veteran vending.

          7  And not only veteran vending, but people who lost

          8  their businesses because they helped veterans. So, I

          9  heard before there was veterans to help veterans,

         10  well, I'm probably the only veteran who went to help

         11  veterans and I lost my business doing it.

         12                 So, this is going to be quite

         13  interesting, and I'm pretty sure something is going

         14  to come out of it. So, hopefully when I call up the

         15  Council members and try and sit down and meet with

         16  them, I'll be able to sit down and try and explain

         17  this to them, especially Councilman Barron, because

         18  you're on the Consumer Affairs Committee. You're

         19  going to be quite surprised of what's happened in

         20  the past.

         21                 I know that there are a lot of people

         22  out there that can help vets. And vending isn't a

         23  great job. Believe me, it's not. But if a kid is

         24  going to school and he can work a couple of days a

         25  week to supplement it, I mean that's the end. I
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          2  mean, we're not talking about making a career out of

          3  this. I'm trying to tell the guy, look, you can put

          4  a few bucks in your pocket and you can get through

          5  school.

          6                 And I know my daughter, she was in

          7  the military, she got out of the Marines, she went

          8  to night college, and thank God she was such a good

          9  student that Smith College gave her 100 percent

         10  tuition. Thank God. But we still have to help her.

         11  You know, but not everybody is so fortunate. I know

         12  when I got out of the service college was the last

         13  thing on my mind. I did the two tours in Nam and all

         14  that, and I was just looking to get back into the

         15  world to fit in again and get a job and I had a real

         16  hard time in the beginning to get a job. No one was

         17  hiring us, you know.

         18                 As far as getting to the veteran, I

         19  would go a step further than to wait til they get

         20  out. I would get them going in. I would put that

         21  flyer together, that pamphlet, go to recruiting

         22  centers, put it on the desk and say, listen guys,

         23  when you get out of the service, this is waiting for

         24  you. The recruiters will love it.

         25                 I mean, it's just another way for
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          2  them to get a minute. They'll love it, you know. And

          3  then you get them coming out. It's really important

          4  that when these kids, and I've got to say they're

          5  kids now, when they get out of the service, they

          6  need somebody to take them by the hand and say and

          7  this is yours. If they don't want to use it, fine,

          8  but at least they can't say they were never offered

          9  it, and right now they're not being offered it.

         10                 You know, he wasn't told what he was

         11  entitled to. I know it. I know I wasn't told when I

         12  got out, I know Ralph wasn't told. There is no

         13  reason for this anymore. This is not Vietnam.

         14  There's not hundreds of thousands of boys going.

         15  There's thousands. When you say 3,000, that's

         16  nothing. You know, we lost more than 3,000 in one

         17  battle in World War II. It's the drops. To say we

         18  can't reach these men is ridiculous. You give me

         19  100,000, I'll go reach them all, if that's the way

         20  it is. It's ridiculous. There is no excuse why every

         21  veteran, past, that the kids are in right now, don't

         22  know what they're entitled to. Once they get the

         23  information, it's their choice. But you can't pass

         24  the buck. Don't say the State should do it, the City

         25  should do it, we have to do it. That's about it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, first of

          3  all, I want to thank all of you very much for your

          4  testimony. I'm sure Council Member Monserrate has

          5  something to say, but let me just say this: Number

          6  one, I couldn't agree with you more, we have had

          7  very passionate internal battles on the Consumer

          8  Affairs Committee, particularly, and I've said it

          9  openly before, but Chair Comrie and I have varied

         10  disagreements on what bills should come forth and

         11  what shape they should be in, whether it's releasing

         12  the cap on licensing, on stopping the police

         13  harassment, whether it's opening up more streets.

         14  There are a lot of issues, protecting veterans, then

         15  there is competition within the vending community

         16  around some of these issues and we've been battling.

         17  As a matter of fact, it started with Chair Reed, do

         18  you remember?

         19                 MR. ROSSI: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: That's right. So

         21  you all remember those battles there.

         22                 I will definitely support Council

         23  Member Avella, and if we have to go and try to do

         24  it, one of the things we started with the Fresh

         25  Democracy Council when we first came into office in
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          2  2001 is to develop a process so that the Speaker

          3  doesn't have so much power to determine whether a

          4  bill lives or dies, we can now go to our other

          5  Council members and we get a drafting or a sign off

          6  on a bill and we can't get a hearing in the

          7  Committee, it can go to the full Council for a

          8  hearing and a voting with two or three steps.

          9                 So, I'm going to support you 100

         10  percent, because I think you're correct on that. And

         11  if Councilman Avella has bills, I will definitely

         12  look into that.

         13                 The other piece is that, I know you

         14  do, but I want you to understand that this

         15  particular hearing had a narrow focus on CUNY

         16  students who are veterans. Some of the issues you

         17  have raised I'm sure Council Member Monserrate has

         18  raised in his Committee, because that's why we had

         19  the Veterans Affairs Committee with us, to raise

         20  some of the larger issues you have. But we've

         21  particularly focused on education, as Chair of

         22  Higher Ed, I wanted to make sure veterans are being

         23  treated with respect and had access to everything.

         24                 And you're right, I think you're

         25  raising some very profound things and simple things
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          2  to be done, you know, either before you go in or

          3  after you come out, information being available. And

          4  it's just that this nation, this State and this City

          5  doesn't prioritize veterans. You know, they don't

          6  respect veterans the way they should be respected,

          7  and it's not on the top of the agenda. So, for

          8  things that are simple to us, we see it, they're not

          9  even that costly, and it can be done very simply

         10  with a $60 billion budget, a $120 billion New York

         11  State budget and a $2.7 trillion federal budget, and

         12  spent already $770 billion on the war, why can't

         13  they take care of you at home?

         14                 MR. ROSSI: Right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: There is no

         16  excuse for it, other than it's not a will or a

         17  priority.

         18                 Council Member Monserrate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

         20  I think it was very eloquently stated, my friend,

         21  Council Member Barron.

         22                 I want to thank you, gentlemen, for

         23  participating. These gentlemen have not only

         24  participated today but in countless hearings, and in

         25  Coalition, COVO meetings, and it's always good to
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          2  know that there are some individuals who take up

          3  their time to come and participate, and sometimes be

          4  the squeaky wheel in City government, at the very

          5  least for here in City Hall, to ensure that the

          6  message of veterans, for the hundreds of thousands

          7  of them that are out there, and which both of you

          8  are voices for, so I just want to say thank you. And

          9  thank you on behalf of New York City veterans for

         10  doing what you can. Thank you very much.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you. And

         13  with that, this hearing is adjourned.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 3:04 p.m.)
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